| 1 | | | | | |
|----|---|--|---|----|--|
| 2 | | | | | |
| 3 | IN THE SUPREME C | OURT OF THE STATE (| DENEWADA ally Filed | | |
| 4 | | OUNT OF THE STATE (| Feb 19 2014 08:30 a.m | ۱. | |
| 5 | DALE F | EDWARD FLANAGAN, | Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cour | t | |
| 6 | | Appellant, | | | |
| 7 | | MG | | | |
| 8 | | VS. | | | |
| 9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, | | | | |
| 10 | | Respondent | | | |
| 11 | | | | | |
| 12 | Docket No. 63703 | | | | |
| 13 | Appeal from the Denial of a Post-Conviction Petition | | | | |
| 14 | District Court, Clark County The Honorable Michelle Leavitt, District Judge | | | | |
| 15 | | | | | |
| 16 | District (| District Court No. 85-C069269-1 | | | |

I. Jurisdictional Statement

The basis of this Court's appellate jurisdiction is Nevada Revised Statutes section 34.575(1). The district court's order dismissing Mr. Flanagan's second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("Second Petition") was filed on June 28, 2013, and the Notice of Entry of Findings and Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on July 1, 2013. Mr. Flanagan timely filed a Notice of Appeal on July 26, 2013.

II. Introduction

Mr. Flanagan was convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of his grandparents based on the critical testimony of his "girlfriend" Angela Saldana. In his first state habeas corpus proceedings ("First Petition"), Mr. Flanagan challenged his convictions and death sentence in part because the State manufactured the incriminating evidence used against him at trial. Appellant's Appendix ("App.") 573-706; 753-801; see also App. 580-83, 588-89, 754, 757-58. The district court denied Mr. Flanagan's motions for discovery and an evidentiary hearing, concluding that the "naked allegations [were] unsubstantiated by facts." App. 941. Following this Court's decision affirming the district court, App. 972-93, Mr. Flanagan instituted habeas corpus proceedings in the federal district court. Flanagan v. Baker, No. 2-09-cv-00085 (D. Nev.). After obtaining funding for investigation, Mr. Flanagan located and interviewed for the first time two witnesses—Ms. Saldana's aunt Wendy Peoples (nee Mazaros) and her daughter Amy Hanley-Peoples—who confirmed that not only was Ms. Saldana's testimony false, but also that it had been fabricated and coerced by state actors. App. 1280-89.

Mr. Flanagan presented the federal district court with the declarations of these two witnesses in support of the federal constitutional misconduct claims previously presented to this Court. Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, *Flanagan v.*

Baker, No. 2-09-cv-00085 (D. Nev. Feb. 11, 2011), Electronic Case Filing (ECF) No. 46; *see also* App. 1320-67. In response, the State asserted that the misconduct claims, as supplemented by the new evidence, had not been fairly presented to the state courts in violation of the exhaustion doctrine. Motion To Dismiss First Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus by a Person in State Custody Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 or in the Alternative, Motion for a More Definite Statement, *Flanagan v. Baker*, No. 2-09-cv-00085 (D. Nev. Sept. 2, 2011), ECF No. 55, at 15.

On August 23, 2012, the federal district court resolved the exhaustion issue by staying the federal proceedings and ordering Mr. Flanagan to present the new allegations to the Nevada courts. Order, *Flanagan v. Baker*, No. 2:09-cv-00085 (D. Nev. Aug. 23, 2012), ECF No. 100, *see also* App. 1369-73. In so ruling, the court held that:

The allegations supporting Claim One, if taken as true, arguably present a meritorious challenge to his conviction or sentence. As noted, Flanagan contends, among other things, that the State failed to disclose material evidence that would have undermined the credibility of a witness that testified against him and that the State knowingly offered false or misleading testimony and evidence. Claim One contains factual allegations sufficient to raise colorable grounds for relief under *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972) and *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959).

App. 1372. The court further concluded that there was "no indication" that Mr. Flanagan engaged in any dilatory litigation tactics, *id.*; indeed; the court found that "Flanagan has demonstrated that he made a good faith effort to develop this specific claim in state court by directing his investigator to locate [Wendy] Peoples and by seeking leave to conduct discovery related to Angela Saldana," App. 1371.

Mr. Flanagan immediately compiled with the federal district court's order by filing the Second Petition in the district court on September 28, 2012. App. 994-1104. In response to the Second Petition and accompanying exhibits, the State filed a Motion to Dismiss, seeking to avoid any inquiry into its wrongdoing by asserting that Mr. Flanagan's claims are barred for his failure to comply with procedural rules. App. 1290-1373. Without conducting an evidentiary hearing or permitting fact finding on the claims, the district court summarily dismissed the Second Petition, opining on the credibility of the witnesses supporting the claims and citing a host of procedural default doctrines. App. 1417 (Court: "let's not forget who this affidavit is being authored by, and apparently, she doesn't have anything good to say about her ex-husband"), 1432-42 (finding that Mr. Flanagan's claims are barred by NRS 34.726, 34.800, and 34.810).

III. Statement of the Issues

Whether the district court erred in denying Mr. Flanagan's post-conviction habeas petition, concluding it was procedurally barred, thereby depriving him of his state and federal constitutional rights to due process, fair trial, and effective assistance of counsel, despite the State's misconduct in concealing the facts supporting those constitutional claims and Mr. Flanagan's diligence in uncovering the misconduct.

IV. Statement of the Case

A. Nature of the Case

Mr. Flanagan appeals the denial of his Second Petition for a writ of habeas corpus challenging his convictions and death sentence.

B. Procedural History

Mr. Flanagan was charged by Information with conspiracy to commit burglary, conspiracy to commit robbery, conspiracy to commit murder, burglary, robbery with the use of a deadly weapon and first-degree murder with the use of a

deadly weapon. Trial began in September 1985, and the jury convicted Mr. Flanagan on all charges on October 11, 1985, and sentenced him to death on October 17, 1985. On May 18, 1988, this Court affirmed Mr. Flanagan's convictions, but reversed his death sentence. *Flanagan v. State*, 104 Nev. 105, 754 P.2d 836 (1988).

At the retrial, Mr. Flanagan was again sentenced to death. Although this Court affirmed Mr. Flanagan's sentence, *Flanagan v. State*, 107 Nev. 243, 810 P.2d 759 (1991), the United States Supreme Court reversed the judgment. *Flanagan v. Nevada*, 503 U.S. 931 (1992). On February 10, 1993, this Court remanded the case for a new penalty trial. *Flanagan v. State*, 109 Nev. 50, 846 P.2d 1053 (1993). At the third penalty trial, Mr. Flanagan again was sentenced to death. On December 20, 1996, this Court affirmed the judgment. *Flanagan v. State*, 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d 691 (1996), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1083 (1998).

On May 28, 1998, Mr. Flanagan filed a Pro Per Petition for Post Conviction Relief and requested appointment of counsel. On June 5, 1998, counsel was appointed, and filed a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("First Petition") on November 30, 1999. App. 573-706. On August 16, 2000, the district court denied Mr. Flanagan's Motion for Discovery, and on February 14, 2002, the court held a limited evidentiary hearing. App. 897-937. On August 9, 2002, the court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and ordered the First Petition denied. App. 938-71. This Court affirmed the district court's decision on February 22, 2008. Order of Affirmance, *Flanagan v. State*, Case No. 40232 (Feb. 22, 2008), App. 972-93.

On February 11, 2011, Mr. Flanagan filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the federal district court. *Flanagan v. Baker*, No. 2-09-cv-00085 (D. Nev. Feb. 11, 2011), ECF No. 46; *see also* App. 1320-67. The State thereafter filed a motion to dismiss, arguing, *inter alia*, that Mr. Flanagan's misconduct

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In accordance with the federal district court's order, on September 28, 2012, Mr. Flanagan filed the Second Petition in the district court. App. 994-1104. On January 16, 2013, the State filed a Motion to Dismiss. App. 1290-1373. Mr. Flanagan opposed the motion on March 26, 2013, App. 1374-1406, and the State's rely was filed on April 18, 2013, App. 1407-11. On June 6, 2013, the district court heard argument on the motion, App. 1412-31, and thereafter summarily dismissed the Second Petition, App. 1432-37.

claims, as supplemented by the new evidence, had not been fairly presented to the

Nevada courts in violation of the exhaustion doctrine. Motion To Dismiss First

Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus by a Person in State Custody

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 or in the Alternative, Motion for a More Definite

Statement, Flanagan v. Baker, No. 2-09-cv-00085 (D. Nev. Sept. 2, 2011), ECF

No. 55, at 15. On August 23, 2012, the federal district court issued an order

staying the federal proceedings and ordering Mr. Flanagan to present the new

allegations to the Nevada courts. Order, Flanagan v. Baker, No. 2:09-cv-00085 (D.

Nev. Aug. 23, 2012), ECF No. 100, see also App. 1369-73.

V. Statement of Facts

On November 5, 1984, Colleen and Carl Gordon, Mr. Flanagan's grandparents, were killed in their Las Vegas home. Mr. Flanagan and five other teenage boys were charged with their murders. The cornerstone of the prosecution's case in the guilt trial and the two penalty retrials was Angela Saldana. Ms. Saldana, a stripper and prostitute, engaged in a sexual relationship with Mr. Flanagan and later another co-defendant, Tom Akers, in an effort to implicate Mr. Flanagan in the killing of his grandparents. App. 239-355, 459-78, 509-44. Ms.

¹ Claim 1 of the Second Petition detailed the state misconduct concerning the development and presentation of Angela Saldana's testimony. App. 1021-41. Claims 2 through 5, which included additional allegations of misconduct and

Saldana's testimony at trial proved to be critical to the prosecution's case, not only because she testified that Mr. Flanagan had confessed his guilt, but also because, unlike the other "witnesses" to the crime, she was not involved in the conspiracy or "diabolical plot" to commit the crimes. App. 1466 (prosecutor's closing arguments). Indeed, during closing arguments, the prosecutors repeatedly relied on Ms. Saldana's testimony—that Mr. Flanagan confessed to planning the crimes in an effort to obtain his grandparents' inheritance, to his and others' actions inside the house, replacing the knife that he lost on the night of the crime, and killing his grandmother—and her trustworthiness as unimpeachable evidence of Mr. Flanagan's guilt. *See*, *e.g.*, App. 372-73, 378, 387-88, 390, 405, 412-13, 429-30, 444-45, 453.

What defense counsel at trial, the jurors, the trial judges, and this Court during Mr. Flanagan's first habeas corpus proceedings did not know was that Ms. Saldana's testimony was false, manufactured by her uncle Robert Peoples in concert with law enforcement officials. Almost from the discovery of the crimes, Robert Peoples, acting on behalf of law enforcement, orchestrated the development of the case against Mr. Flanagan using his niece Angela Saldana. Ms. Saldana's aunt Wendy Mazaros explains the method by which the state manufactured her testimony:

Very soon after this [the death of Mr. Flanagan's grandparents], Robert [Peoples] let [Las Vegas District Attorney Chief Investigator] Beecher Avants know that Angie [Saldana] was Dale's girlfriend. Beecher had left Las Vegas Metro police and was Chief Investigator for the Las Vegas District Attorney's office. Within a day, Beecher came over to our house. Beecher had already made up his mind that Dale was involved in the killings. . . . Robert realized that this case posed an opportunity to keep in good standing with the authorities and hatched a plan with Beecher [Avants] to have Angie [Saldana] "solve"

the case. Robert always took every opportunity to cooperate with law enforcement because it paid off for him. He set about manipulating and controlling Angie just as he did me when he was secretly working with the police in the [Al] Bramlet case. Robert told Angie that if she did not cooperate with him and Beecher, Angie could be charged with conspiracy and be executed.

App. 1286-87 (Declaration of Wendy C. Mazaros). After meeting with Las Vegas District Attorney Chief Investigator Beecher Avants and discussing the case against Mr. Flanagan, Robert Peoples "told Angie [Saldana] exactly what to say to the police and at trial. *Robert coerced Angie to say anything Beecher [Avants] wanted her to say.*" App. 1287 (emphasis added). Ms. Saldana's cousin, Amy Henley-Peoples, corroborates Ms. Mazaros's account, stating that, prior to the guilt trial, "Robert Peoples instructed Angie how to testify and rehearsed her testimony," a process that he repeated prior to the penalty retrial:

Robert Peoples constantly talked to Angie [Saldana] about what was contained in the [police] reports from the Flanagan boxes. He also told Angie over and over how she had testified at the first trial and that she had to do so again. Robert Peoples threatened over and over. He said "you have to do this. You got paid, if you don't do it you're going to fry."

App. 1280-81 (Declaration of Amy Henley-Peoples). Thus, only by fabricating her testimony and through undisclosed threats and inducements did Ms. Saldana provide the key evidence—most importantly, Mr. Flanagan's alleged confession—necessary to secure his conviction and death sentences.

1

10 11 12

9

13 14

15

16 17 18

19 20 21

22 23

24 25 26

27 28

VI. Argument: The District Court Improperly Dismissed Mr. Flanagan's Petition.

In dismissing the Second Petition, the district court adopted verbatim the

State's position regarding the application of procedural default rules.² First, the district court concluded that Mr. Flanagan failed to comply with the statute of limitations provision set forth in Nevada Revised Statutes section 34.726 because the Second Petition was filed "more than 24 years after the issuance of Remittitur following direct appeal on June 7, 1988, and more than 14 years since new death sentences were affirmed on appeal and Remittitur issued on June 3, 1998." App. 1434.³ Second, the district court invoked the laches doctrine codified in Nevada Revised Statute section 34.800, which creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice because more than five years have elapsed between the issuance of the remittitur regarding the conviction and the death sentences and filing of the Second Petition. App. 1434. Third, the district court concluded that the Second Petition

This Court held in *Byford v. State*, 123 Nev. 67, 70, 156 P.3d 691, 693 (2007), that "the district court should have . . . either drafted its own findings of fact and conclusions of law or announced them to the parties with sufficient specificity to provide guidance to the prevailing party in drafting a proposed order." As is evident from the transcript of the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, the district court provided no "express findings in support of its determination and provided no guidance for the prevailing party." State v. Greene, ____ Nev. ____, 307 P.3d 322, 325-26 (2013); App. 1430 ("At this time, the Court is going to grant the State's motion to dismiss based on procedural default rules. Make a ruling that the petitioner has failed to show good cause by failing to timely file the claim in state court. The State can prepare the order.").

The district court did not explain why the issuance of the remittitur from this Court's 1988 decision remanding the case for a new penalty trial began the statute of limitations period. Section 34.726's one-year statute of limitations period did not commence until the judgment against Mr. Flanagan was final after this Court denied the appeal from the 1995 penalty retrial. See Whitehead v. State, ____ Nev. ____, 285 P.3d 1053, 21055 (2012).

1

6

7

8 9

11 12

10

13

15 16

14

17

19

18

2021

22

2324

2526

27

28

was barred by Nevada Revised Statutes section 34.810, allegedly because it contains claims that were or could have been presented in the first state habeas corpus proceedings. App. 1434 ("Many of the grounds could have been raised in a direct appeal or the first post-conviction petition or were in fact raised previously and were denied on the merits.").⁴

Neither the State nor the district court identified which claims Mr. Flanagan could have presented—but did not present—in the direct appeal or the First Moreover, although Mr. Flanagan readily admitted that the state misconduct claims had been presented in the First Petition, the State asserted in federal court that the exhaustion doctrine required Mr. Flanagan to re-present the claims with the additional declarations. See Motion To Dismiss First Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus by a Person in State Custody Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 or in the Alternative, Motion for a More Definite Statement, Sept. 2, 2011, ECF No. 55, at 15 ("because the claims therein are unexhausted in that they have not been fully and fairly presented to any state court"). The State's position in federal district court—that Claim 1 differs from the claims previously presented—precludes a contrary argument in the district court. As Mr. Flanagan argued in the district court, the doctrine of judicial estoppel precludes the State from taking inconsistent positions in litigation. See, e.g., App. 1384-85; see also Sterling Builders, Inc. v. Fuhrman, 80 Nev. 543, 549, 396 P.2d 850, 854 (1964) ("'Under the doctrine of judicial estoppel a party may be estopped merely by the fact of having alleged or admitted in his pleadings in a former proceeding the contrary of the assertion sought to be made."") (quoting 31 C.J.S. Estoppel § 121 at 649); United States v. McCaskey, 9 F.3d 368, 378 (5th Cir. 1993) (judicial estoppel prevents parties from "'playing fast and loose' with the courts, and prohibit[s them] from deliberately changing positions according to the exigencies of the moment."); Russell v. Rolfs, 893 F.2d 1033, 1037 (9th Cir. 1990) (state barred from asserting procedural default defenses when state informed petitioner adequate state remedies available). "The primary purpose of judicial estoppel is to protect the judiciary's integrity, and a court may invoke the doctrine at its discretion." NOLM, LLC v. County of Clark, 120 Nev. 736, 743, 100 P.3d 658, 663 (2004). Moreover, the State's original position in federal court—that the claims had not been exhausted and implicitly that there was an available state forum for their consideration—must be construed as a concession estopping it from arguing in this Court that Mr. Flanagan's claims are procedurally barred. See Russell v. Rolfs, 893 F.2d at 1037. The district court did not rule on whether estoppel barred the State from taking

has established his diligence in developing the claims, cause for his inability to present the claims in accordance with state procedural rules and prejudice would result from the invocation of the procedural bars. *See*, *e.g.*, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.726 (bar is inapplicable where petitioner establishes "good cause" for failing to file the Petition within one year of the issuance of the remittitur); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.800(1)(a) (laches bar is inapplicable if "petitioner could not have had knowledge" of the grounds alleged herein "by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances prejudicial to the state occurred"); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.810(3) (bar is inapplicable when petitioner establishes "good cause" and "actual prejudice"). In *State v. Huebler*, this Court explained the circumstances that permit merits review of constitutional claims despite a failure to comply with procedural default rules:

Each of the purported procedural defaults is excused because Mr. Flanagan

To show good cause for delay under NRS 34.726(1), a petitioner must demonstrate two things: "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner" and that the petitioner will be "unduly prejudice[d]" if the petition is dismissed as untimely. Under the first requirement, "a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." *Hathaway v. State*, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (citing *Lozada v. State*, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994)). "An impediment external to the defense may be demonstrated by a showing 'that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that some interference by officials, made compliance impracticable." *Id.* (quoting *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S. Ct. 2639, 91 L. Ed.2d 397 (1986) (citations and quotations omitted)). Under the second requirement, a petitioner must show that errors in the proceedings underlying the judgment

these inconsistent positions.

1
 2
 3

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