IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DALE EDWARD FLANAGAN,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 20 2014 09:34 a.m. Case No. 63703 Tracie K. Lindeman **Clerk of Supreme Court**

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Denial of Second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

CAL J. POTTER, III, ESQ. Potter Law Offices Nevada Bar #001988 1125 Shadow Lane Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 (702) 385-1954

MICHAEL LAURENCE, ESQ. California Bar #121854 303 Second Street, Suite 400 South San Francisco, California 94107 (415) 348-3800

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court Properly Dismissed Flanagan's Petition

Flanagan's second state petition for writ of habeas corpus was nothing more than a regurgitation of long-known facts and conspiracy theories which the district court, and this Court, have rejected multiple times over the past 28 years. Initially, Flanagan readily admitted that five of the six claims for relief in his second petition were previously presented in the first state habeas proceedings. 7 AA 1010-11. But he claimed that his first claim was "new" and not previously raised. <u>Id.</u>; 7 AA 1020. After the State pointed out that in reality his first claim was not new, Flanagan later conceded that it was the same legal claim presented with "new" additional facts. 9 AA 1418-19.⁴ The district court dismissed Flanagan's petition because it was

⁴ Despite his concession, Flanagan continues to argue that the State took a contrary position in federal court, contending that Claim 1 differed from the claims he presented in his initial habeas petition. AOB 9 n. 4. On appeal, he argues that the district court erred in not ruling on his doctrine of judicial estoppel argument and specifically contends that the State's position in federal court should have been

untimely and successive, and to the extent that Flanagan alleged new facts in support of one claim, such facts did not constitute good cause because they were not withheld by the State and Flanagan failed to demonstrate good cause for his delay in bringing these "new" facts to the state court once they were discovered. 9 AA 1433-1434. As discussed below, the district court's decision was not in error.

A. Application of the State Procedural Bars

Flanagan does not dispute that there were three applicable procedural default rules in this case. First, his petition was untimely pursuant to the procedural bar of NRS 34.726. 9 AA 1434. Second, the State affirmatively pled laches and was entitled to a rebuttable presumption of prejudice which Flanagan did not overcome.

construed as a concession estopping it from arguing that the claims were procedurally barred in state court. <u>Id.</u> Flanagan misconstrues the record in support of his argument.

In federal court, the State adamantly opposed Flanagan's motion for stay and abeyance because Flanagan "failed to demonstrate that he has good cause for his failure to first take his unexhausted claims to state court and further failed to show that said unexhausted claims are potentially unmeritorious." 1 RA 195. Even if a petitioner raises precisely the same legal claims in state and federal proceedings, reliance in the two proceedings upon different factual grounds that fundamentally alter the legal claim will foreclose a conclusion that the claim is exhausted. Vasquez v. Hillery, 474 U.S. 254, 260, 106 S.Ct. 617, 621-22 (1986). While maintaining that some of the factual allegations were not new and not previously raised in state court, the State also argued to the district court that such claims were procedurally barred without an adequate showing of good cause and prejudice. 9 AA 1409-1410. Those two positions are not in conflict. The State has consistently asserted, both in state and federal court, that Flanagan's new factual allegations were unexhausted and procedurally barred. Thus, Flanagan's assertion that the district court should have precluded the State from taking inconsistent positions is without merit and Flanagan is simply misrepresenting the record in his favor.

<u>Id.</u> Third, Flanagan's petition was barred by NRS 34.810 because it was successive and included claims that were, or could have been, presented in the first habeas proceeding. <u>Id.</u>

Instead, Flanagan faults the district court for adopting the State's position on the application of the procedural default rules, AOB 8, and claims that he demonstrated "good cause" to overcome his procedural defaults. As discussed *infra*, he asks this Court to disavow the usual deference it gives to the district court because the court adopted the State's position. AOB 8 n. 2, 11 n. 6. This Court must decline Flanagan's request because he has failed to demonstrate that the district court's application of the procedural bars was in error.

Flanagan's second petition was filed on September 28, 2012, well outside the one-year time limitation of NRS 34.726 which requires post-conviction petitions to be filed within one year of issuance of Remittitur after direct appeal. This Court has held that the procedural bars are mandatory, <u>State v. District Court (Riker)</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005), and has previously rejected a habeas corpus petition filed just two days after the one year time bar pursuant to the clear and unambiguous provisions of NRS 34.726. <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 53 P.3d 901 (2002). Flanagan contends that the district court erred in failing to explain why it ran the statute of limitations period from this Court's 1988 Remittitur date. AOB 8 n. 3. The district court properly ran the time bar from *both* Flanagan's 1988 and

1998 Remittitur dates. 9 AA 1434. Although Flanagan's death sentence was not affirmed until 1998, his conviction of guilt became final in 1988 when this Court affirmed his conviction of guilt. See People v. Jackson, 60 Cal.Rptr. 248, 250, 429 P.2d 600, 602 (1967) (holding that a conviction for murder is a final judgment even when the death sentence is reversed and is not yet final); People v. Kemp, 111 Cal.Rptr. 562, 564, 517 P.2d 826, 828 (1974) (holding that when a judgment is vacated only insofar as it relates to the death penalty, "the original judgment of the issue of guilt remains final during retrial of the penalty issue and during all appellate proceedings. . . . ").⁵ Because Flanagan claimed that counsel was ineffective at all stages of the proceeding, 7 AA 1058, and the State engaged in misconduct through the entirety of his case, 7 AA 1055, 1100, he was attacking counsel's performance at both the guilt and penalty phases of this case and thus, both Remittitur dates were Flanagan did not initiate his second state habeas proceedings until relevant. September 28, 2012, more than 24 years after the Remittitur from his guilt direct appeal and more than 14 years after the Remittitur from his penalty direct appeal. Thus, the one-year bar of NRS 34.726 was clearly applicable.

⁵ This case is distinguishable from <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 128 Nev. ___, 285 P.3d 1053 (2012), which Flanagan relies on, because <u>Whitehead</u> was not bifurcated into guilt and penalty phases. AOB 8 n. 3. Thus, the holdings of <u>Jackson</u> and <u>Kemp</u> are more applicable.

Given the length of time between the issuance of Remittiturs from Flanagan's direct appeal and the affirmance of Flanagan's death sentences, there was a rebuttable presumption that the Flanagan's delay in bringing his second petition to district court prejudiced the State. NRS 34.800(2). He failed to overcome that presumption by delegating his response to the State's latches argument to a mere footnote in his Opposition to the State's Motion to Dismiss. 7 AA 1393 n. 15. Flanagan repeats his argument verbatim in this appeal, contending that NRS 34.800 should be inapplicable to this case because the State has sworn testimony from its witnesses and the grounds he seeks relief on allegedly constitutes a "fundamental miscarriage of justice." Compare AOB 18 n. 16 with 7 AA 1393 n. 15. Flanagan's argument is unconvincing. If the rebuttable presumption of delay could be overcome simply by the State having the ability to re-use old sworn testimony from its witnesses, NRS 34.800(2) would be rendered toothless because any defendant could be re-tried based on the record from his first trial. Moreover, in order to demonstrate a fundamental miscarriage of justice, Flanagan was required to make a colorable showing of actual innocence such that "no reasonable juror would have convicted him absent a constitutional violation." Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 867, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001). He failed to make that showing by only summarily quoting the language of Pellegrini, and thus, the district court properly rejected these arguments.

Lastly, Flanagan's petition was successive under NRS 34.810 because it was, admittedly, his second attempt at post-conviction relief and he re-raised multiple claims of relief that had already been denied on the merits.⁶ AOB 13 n. 8, 19 n. 17. The district court was required to dismiss the successive petition if it failed to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits, or if new and different grounds were alleged, the failure to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ. NRS 34.810(2). Flanagan had the burden of pleading and proving specific facts to demonstrate good cause for the failure to present the "new" claim, or for presenting the claim again, and actual prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); see also Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-647, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001) ("A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or counsel have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner."). As discussed *infra*, he failed to make that showing.

This Court has observed that "petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is

⁶ Although Flanagan filed an earlier post-conviction petition, filed in 1995, that raised guilt phase issues, it was deemed to be premature and not a bar to the 1998 petition, which was considered the "first" petition. <u>See</u> 6 AA 974-75.

final." <u>Groesbeck v. Warden</u>, 100 Nev. 259, 261, 679 P.2d 1268, 1269 (1984). In <u>Lozada</u>, this Court stated: "Without such limitations on the availability of postconviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." <u>Lozada v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). If the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. <u>McClesky v. Zant</u>, 499 U.S. 467, 497-4987 (1991). "Application of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory." <u>Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. The district court gave effect to this Court's holdings affect by applying the relevant mandatory procedural bars to Flanagan's appeal.

B. Flanagan Failed to Demonstrate Good Cause

Because his petition was procedurally barred, Flanagan had the burden of pleading and proving facts to demonstrate good cause to excuse the delay. <u>State v.</u> <u>Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 181, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003). In order to demonstrate good cause, he was required to demonstrate or show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him from complying with the state procedural default rules. <u>Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003). "An impediment external to the defense may be demonstrated by a showing 'that the factual or legal

basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that some interference by officials, made compliance impracticable."" <u>Id.</u>, quoting <u>Murray v. Carrier</u>, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986).

When, as here, a petitioner raises a <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963), claim in an untimely post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus, the petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate both components of the good-cause showing required by NRS 34.726(1): "[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner" and that the petitioner will be "unduly prejudice[d]" if the petition is dismissed as untimely. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. ___, 275 P.3d 91 (2012). Those components parallel the second and third prongs of a <u>Brady</u> violation: establishing that the State withheld evidence demonstrates that the delay was caused by an impediment external to the defense, and establishing that the evidence was material generally demonstrates that the petitioner would be unduly prejudiced if the petition is dismissed as untimely. <u>Id.</u>, *citing* <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 119 Nev. 589, 81 P.3d 1 (2003).

Flanagan failed to demonstrate good cause under these standards. In response to the State's motion to dismiss his petition, he advanced two good cause arguments. First, he argued that "as the federal district court found," he had been diligent in investigating the factual basis for his claims, and thus, established good cause to excuse any purported procedural defaults. 9 AA 1391, 1420. Second, Flanagan

argued that he filed his <u>Brady</u> claim within a "reasonable" time after locating Wendy Mazaros and Amy Hanley-Peoples. 9 AA 1393-94. The district court properly rejected both of these arguments. 9 AA 1434-36.

Typically, this Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings regarding good cause but reviews the district court's application of the law to those facts de novo. Huebler, 128 Nev. at ___, 275 P.3d at 95, citing Lott v. Mueller, 304 F.3d 918, 922 (9th Cir. 2002). However, Flanagan argues in two footnotes that this Court should decline to give the district court any deference because the district court "adopted verbatim the State's proposed findings" and "provided no 'express findings" in support of its determination." AOB 8 n. 2, AOB 11, n. 6. Flanagan relies on State v. Greene, 129 Nev. __, 307 P.3d 322 (2013), which is factually inapposite from this case. In Greene, the district court absolutely refused to explain its ruling even after the parties specifically asked the court to articulate the grounds for its decision, leaving the defendant to draft a proposed order without any guidance at all. 129 Nev. at ___, 307 P.3d at 325. In this case, the district court announced the grounds for its denial and granted the State's motion to dismiss "based on procedural default rules," and directed the State to "[m]ake a ruling that the petitioner has failed to show good cause by failing to timely file the claim in state court." 9 AA 1430. Consistent with the district court's pronounced ruling and the discussions at the June 6, 2013 hearing, the State drafted a proposed Findings for the district court's

consideration. The district court was free to disregard that draft all together or make changes to it. The fact that the district court only made minor changes to the "Conclusions of Law" section demonstrates that the court gave the State sufficient guidance and the "Findings of Fact" accurately reflected its oral pronouncement. See 9 AA 1438-39 (Judge Leavitt made two corrections and initialed both in the margins). Thus, this Court should decline Flanagan's request and employ its typical standard of review. See Byford v. State, 128 Nev. 67, 70, 156 P.3d 691, 693 (2007) (holding that the district court should "either draft[] its own findings of facts and conclusions of law *or* announce[] them to the parties with sufficient specificity *to provide guidance* to the prevailing party in drafting a proposed order.") (emphasis added).

Flanagan continues to conflate the federal due diligence standard with this State's good cause standard in support of his contention that the district court erred. AOB 10-17. Unfortunately for Flanagan, a federal court's determination of good cause to impose a stay and abeyance for exhaustion does *not* obviate his need to show good cause because the state procedural bars operate independently of any federal order for stay and abeyance. <u>See generally Riker</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.2d 1070 (2005); <u>Pellegrini</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519; <u>see also Crump v. Warden</u>, 113 Nev. 293, 934 P.2d 247 (1997); <u>Valerio v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 383, 915 P.2d 874 (1996). The State is surprised to see Flanagan repeating this argument on appeal because he seemed to

recognize this principal at the June 6, 2013 hearing, admitting that the federal court's finding only govern the "actions by federal counsel in investigating and bringing forth claim one in the federal proceeding." 9 AA 1427. Flanagan now argues that the "due diligence" standard of federal court is somehow "more stringent" than state "good cause." AOB 17 n. 14. His repeated failure to recognize that these standards operate independently is fatal to this alleged showing of good cause.

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